

Penobscot Valley Star Gazers

An Astronomical Society of Central Maine

Although the winter grey with age. Yet reigns a sovereign king; Sol's platic rays will soon assuage, and usher in the spring.



February 2024

Under the Dome

The next meeting of the PVSG will be held at the Versant Power Astronomy Center on the University of Maine Campus in Orono on Monday, February 12th at 6:30 pm. We assume Zoom will be available also. (Zoom meeting ID 862 9984 6478 Password: PVSG.)

Thanks for last month's program go to Bill for his Astrobit about his piece of the Allende meteorite and to Phil and Jeff for sharing info on a couple of EV telescopes.



PVSG Monthly Meeting Minutes December 11, 2023

Note: Some of the information provided in these minutes are recorded out of order to allow for organizing them according to their normal meeting section.

Meeting:

Call to Order and Welcome to Visitors

The meeting was held by Zoom videoconference. The meeting was brought to order by Don Ferrell at approximately 6:35 PM.

Attendance:

Online:

Don Ferrell - President Jeff Cunningham - Vice-President Dave Clark - Treasurer **Don Krause** Ralph Mallett Bill Shackelford

Presentation

Jeff Cunningham gave a presentation on his rework of our internet web site. Jeff welcomed comments on content and look from the attending members. Menu choices are: Home; Calendar; Tonight; Gallery; Archive; Links; About; and Contact. Many positive comments were made, and the group looks forward to a re-designed web site presence.

Secretary's Report and Acceptance of Minutes

The November minutes were accepted.

Treasurer's Report

Dave stated that \$811.97 is in the treasury currently. Dues are due.

Club Liaison Report:

No report this meeting.

Observing Reports:

Don recently looked at Jupiter and saw the 4 largest moons, but not the Great Red Spot. Dave

viewed the conjunction of Venus and the Moon early in the morning. Bill viewed the Leonid meteor shower from a Bortle 2 site. Jeff photographed the Venus-Moon conjunction and the constellation Orion. He also photographed the "Beaver" Moon.

Old Business

None

New Business

Dave asked if we wanted to do anything with the extra money in our account. The group discussed rocket launches they had seen in the past. Don mentioned that the University Explorers group will be taking a break from regularly scheduled meetinas.

Upcoming Calendar of Events

Geminid meteor shower is coming up soon.

Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at approximately 8:10 PM

January 8, 2024

Meeting:

Call to Order and Welcome to Visitors

The meeting was held by Zoom videoconference. The meeting was brought to order by Don Ferrell at approximately 6:35 PM.

Attendance:

Online:

Don Ferrell - President Jeff Cunningham - Vice-President Dave Clark - Treasurer **Phil Normand - Secretary Don Krause** Bill Shackelford

Astro Shorts

Bill Shackelford gave an astro short on a part of the Allende meteorite that he has. It is a carbonaceous chondrite meteorite that fell on February 8th, 1969 in Mexico. Bill showed that this meteorite is non-magnetic.

Phil mentioned that Celestron has entered the EV telescope market with the Origin intelligent home observatory which sells for \$3,999.00. Phil shared the Celestron video for the EV scope.

Jeff showed the Dwarf 2 EV scope that he recently acquired. It is lightweight (5 pounds) and can be mounted on tripods using ½ inch thread connections

Secretary's Report and Acceptance of Minutes

The December minutes were not voted on. Bill mentioned that the January newsletter didn't get published.

Treasurer's Report

Dave stated that \$811.97 is in the treasury currently.

Club Liaison Report:

No report this meeting.

Observing Reports:

Observations weren't discussed at this meeting.

Old Business

None

New Business

Jeff asked the group if we wanted to publish the new-format web site. After discussion, the group decided to have Jeff make the update. Jeff wanted to know if the next weekend will be at the Versant Astronomy Center Jordan Planetarium and also by Zoom. After discussion, the group decided to discuss where the March meeting would be held. Jeff asked about email links for the president and webmaster. Phil and Jeff will work on this before the next meeting. Don checked with a local attorney office who said they charged \$400 per hour for information. Dave mentioned our insurance policy was ending and we needed to get insurance from a different company. Dave was asked to get the guote from the new company. Dave also asked the group what we wanted to do about the books that Peter Serrada's wife was giving away. Dave asked folks to reply to his email as soon as possible. Bill also mentioned that if anyone wanted to get info on astrophotography, there is a link through Astronomy magazine web site under observing. Look for the link to Astrophotography contest in India. Dave asked about ZOOM hosting and the fact that only Dave, Andy and Shawn have host access and only Dave has been at the meetings lately.

Upcoming Calendar of Events

N/A

Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:40 PM

Phil



Observe The Sky This Month Some Selected Objects

February 2024

General sky comments – For the next few days after our meeting the Moon will not interfere with

this month dark sky observing. Observe the growing crescent Moon and the planet Jupiter at this time. Uranus is visible 10° east of Jupiter, naked eye at a dark site until the growing Moon interferes then you must use a telescope although a telescope is the only way to really observe Uranus. Saturn is visible very low in the west for only a few days early in the month. Observe the Moon slide pass the Pleiades for a day or so around Friday the 16th. On the 21st the star you see next to the waxing Moon is Pollux. On the 22nd Venus and Mars are extremely close. Mars will be difficult to see as Venus will be overpowering in brightness. It is the time of the year to begin observing the zodiacal light after sunset. It will be visible this month from the 26th through the end of the month. On the 28th the bright star south of the Moon is Spica.

Planets and Moon this month – The last quarter Moon was on Friday the 2nd along with the new Moon (lunation 1251) on the 9th before the meeting on the 12th at the Versant Power Astronomy Center and Jorden Planetarium. The first quarter Moon is on Friday the 16th and, the full Moon is on Saturday the 24th. Mercury is in the morning sky and gets increasingly difficult to observe until reaching 10° from the Sun on the 25th at Mag. -0.5. It is at superior conjunction on the 28th. Venus is still the most visible object in morning twilight as it continues to become farther from the Earth. The waning crescent Moon passes 5° to the south on the 7th. It is 0.6° from Mars on the morning of the 22nd but better observed in the southern hemisphere. Mars is beginning to emerge from the glare of the Sun in the constellation Capricornus while in morning twilight. It is in close conjunction with Venus only 0.6° away on the 22nd while being only ½ as bright. Jupiter is now visible for the month only in the evening sky where it remains visible to the unaided eve as twilight begins. The waxing crescent Moon passes to the north on the 15th. Saturn is visible in evening twilight early in the month before being lost to view by mid month. Uranus [Ούρανός] is beginning retrograde in Eastern Aries about 10° east of Jupiter. The waxing crescent Moon passes to its north on the evening of the 15th. Neptune is fading in evening twilight approaching its conjunction with the Sun on March 17. Pluto is in the morning sky in Sagittarius.

Constellations for the month – The northern portion of Puppis, the ship's stern protrudes into the Maine sky adjacent to the lower left portion of Canis Major, the big

dog and contains 3 Messier open star clusters M46 (NGC 2436), M47 (NGC 2422), and M93 (NGC 2447). 60 some other open star clusters are listed in Star Catalog 2000, along with bright and dark nebulae, emission nebulae, and planetary nebulae. I have observed all the Messier objects plus one planetary nebula (NGC 2438) in Puppis. I have guite a few more available to observe. I urge you to obtain a good sky atlas. Canis Major contains one Messier object M41 an open cluster and the brightest star in the sky Sirius. Canis Major, the Big Dog one of the two hunting dogs of Orion sits beside Orion with his big 23Major is not a very big constellation, only 380 square degrees of sky but contains many interesting objects. The open star cluster M41 (NGC 2287) is easily seen 4° directly below Sirius. I noticed a couple of red stars along with the majority of blue-white stars. I have also observed open cluster NGC 2204 with 3 other open clusters on my observing list, NGC 2354, NGC 2360, and NGC 2362. The Big Dog also contains numerous double stars. Above Puppis and Canis Major is the constellation of Monoceros, The Unicorn. [See detailed description below.] Proceeding upward from Monoceros we come to the constellation Canis Minor containing the stars Procyon, "Before the Dog", alpha (α) CMi magnitude 0.4 along with Gomeisa (an old Arabic name for Procyon) beta (β) CMi magnitude 2.9. These two stars comprise almost all of the constellation Canis Minor. Next above is the constellation Gemini, The Twins. Gemini is an ancient constellation and one of the members of the Zodiac. The founding twins of Rome are characterized by the two stars Castor and Pollux representing the twin's heads and parallel strings of stars their bodies. Gemini contains one Messier object M35 (NGC 2168), numerous open clusters, and several planetary nebulae. Especially notable is NGC 2392, the Clown Face (formerly Eskimo) nebula. To find this planetary start at Pollux (the brighter of the two stars of Gemini). Then go 8° SW to 3^{rd} mag. Wasat delta (δ) Gem. From Wasat proceed 2.5°SE to this nebula. This is one planetary I have noted on one rare occasion to have more than one color. Above Gemini is a modern era constellation Lynx, created by Johannes Hevelius. This constellation is long, covering almost 3 hours of R. A. but because it is so high in the sky toward the north all of it is easily observed. Lynx is dim but at a dark site easily traced in the sky. It contains some beautiful galaxies and many multiple star systems. If you have a dark sky Lynx is a real treat to observe and even part may be observed with a binocular. Among these galaxies in Lynx are NGC 2859 a bared spiral located next to a 7th magnitude star less than 1° ENE from alpha (α) Lynx and NGC 2683 an edge-on spiral galaxy located 6° WSW of alpha (α). If you have trouble finding NGC 2683 look a degree or so NW of the star grouping of 1-4 sigma (σ) Lynx, it can be seen with a binocular. Multiple star systems in Lynx include 5, 19, and 38. Do not dismiss this constellation. It is one of my favorites. Above Lynx is another modern era constellation Camelopardalis, the Giraffe was apparently invented in 1613 by the Dutch astronomer and clergyman Petrus Plancius. He introduced the figure as a giraffe on a celestial globe he designed around the year 1612. The constellation's two brightest stars are mag. 4.3 for the Alpha (α) star and mag. 4.0 for the Beta (β) star. Both are super giants. Alpha would be at least one magnitude brighter if it were not hidden behind interstellar dust. Beta has a mag. 7.4 optical double companion lying 1.4 arcminutes to the WSW. They are slowly separating but it has hardly been noticed in 100 years of observing. There is also another star located 15 arcseconds away from the secondary star which may also be a companion. Southern Camelopardalis contains one very fine open cluster NGC 1502 consisting of a mag 7 double star surrounded by 30+ 9th to 12th magnitude stars. Also a bright planetary nebula NGC 1501 located slightly more than 1° south of NGC 1502. From NGC 1502 follow a string of ninth and tenth magnitude stars upward to the NW. Canadian Friar Lucian Kemble noticed this string of stars in 1980 with a 7x35 binocular and saw it tumbling down to NGC 1502. He reported it to Walter Scott Houston who mentioned it in the 1980 Sky & Telescope in his column "Deep Sky Wonders." He named it Kemble's Cascade. In the remainder of Camelopardalis there are many fine galaxies on my observing list including an easily observed one, NGC 2403. I recorded it as a nice open face spiral with a hint of structure. It is detectable with 10x50 or larger binoculars.

Featured star – Sirius, the Dog Star is the brightest star in the sky with an apparent magnitude of -1.46. Its name came from the Greek name Σείριος loosely translated as "the scorching one". It is in the constellation of Canis Major and found 2.6 parsecs (8.6 ly) distant. It is a class A1 star that is fairly young at around 237 million years old. It is expected to live for another 27,000 years. Sirius was important for several ancient groups of people. For the Greeks the appearance of Sirius in the morning sky marked the beginning of the summer months and the so-called "Dog Days". In the Iliad Achilles called Sirius Orion's hound. For the Egyptians its appearance forecast the flooding of the Nile and the renewing of the land. Since ancient times the appearance of Sirius just before the rising sun hides it (known as the heliacal rising) has now changed due to precession to early August. The Polynesians used this later date of late July or early August for the appearance of Sirius as the beginning of winter and the start of the sailing season when it was an important navigational tool. The native people of the American plains also used the later late July to early August appearance to know it was time to leave the cool mountains and return to the prairie. Sirius is a double star with the companion being discovered on January 31, 1862 by Alvin Graham Clark while testing an 18.5" lens being built for the University of Mississippi. Finally in 1889 the lens was installed in a new telescope in the Dearborn Observatory under the directorship of the Chicago Astronomical Society and the old telescope mount transferred to the Adler Planetarium. The ownership of the telescope has been transferred to Northwestern University where it is used to this day for astronomy classes and public observing on Friday nights much like the University of

Maine uses their Clark telescope. The primary star Sirius A and the secondary Sirius B were likely originally a pair of blue-white stars with Sirius B slightly larger. Sirius B became a red giant star and eventually evolved into a white dwarf in orbit with Sirius A. It may be during this transformation Sirius A became rejuvenated into the younger star we see today.

Featured Messier object - M46 is an open cluster in the constellation of Puppis, the Ship's Stern. It was discovered by Messier in March 1771. It is a companion to and east of M47 and not difficult to observe. Both clusters are very large and bright with M46 noted for its rich collection of uniform sized faint stars. Observe these two open clusters with a 10x50 binocular to compare and appreciate the differences. Close up with small telescopes 4/6" M46 is fainter than M47 but more impressive. It shows about 75 stars at 50x uniform in brightness. The planetary nebula NGC 2438 can be noticed as a fuzzy "star". With larger 8" to 10" scopes at 75x there are more faint stars visible. The slightly annular planetary nebula is easily seen along with two stars within. These two stars are not the central star. It is not visible with most amateur scopes.

Featured constellation – Monoceros, the Unicorn was named by an unknown observer but it showed up first on a star globe made by the Dutch cartographer Petrus Kaerius in 1613. It has no pattern representing anything except maybe with a lot of imagination a unicorn. There are no bright stars but it is full of interesting items including open clusters, various nebulas of many different types, and even one spectacular triple star system Beta (β) Mon. Monoceros is dim but not hiding, mostly located west and northwest of Sirius. From Sirius start exploring Monoceros by going 8°NE of Sirius and you should find the Gum1 nebula and a cou-

ple of open clusters one on the right and one on the left sides of the nebula. If you have already found M50 Gum 1 is 2°SSE along with NGC 2335 and NGC 2343. Do not confuse the two with the nebula. NGC 2335 has more stars. If you have trouble finding Gum 1 look for the two open cluster less than 1°apart. To find two of the most interesting objects in Monoceros it is easier to start with stars in the constellation Gemini, the Twins. Begin at the foot of the twin Pollux. (Note the feet of both Castor and Pollux are formed by a line of 2nd, 3rd, and 4th magnitude stars). Begin at the lowest of the stars mag. 3.33 xi (ξ) Gemini and mag. 4.5, 30 Gemini then proceed 3° SE to NGC 2264 an emission nebula complex in Monoceros below the feet of Gemini comprising the Christmas Tree Cluster, the Cone Nebula, and Trumpler 5. The complete complex is best viewed with a 10X50 binocular or finder scope. With a reflector telescope under low power it resembles a Christmas tree with the cone nebula the topper. A non-reversing binocular makes the tree effect go away. Below NGC 2264 is the Rosette Nebula surrounding NGC 2244 an easily seen open cluster. NGC 2244 contains about three dozen stars. The Rosette has low surface brightness thus best seen with a 10X50 binocular or a wide field telescope on dark nights at low power. It is almost 2° in size covering four times as much area as the moon. It has one Messier object M50 (NGC 2323), many nebulae, and open star clusters. For a real treat get out your binoculars, if you have more than one each of a different power and aperture so much the better, and observe this constellation. Monoceros also contains open clusters NGC 2232, 2286, 2324, and 2301 that I have observed. There are a couple of other items on my observing list.

Lens cover removed, enjoy the night Bill Shackelford